UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA
Beckley Division

)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) Criminal No. 5:14-CR-00244
)
)
DONALD L. BLANKENSHIP )

vv

Defendant.

MOTION TO VACATE AND SET ASIDE DEFENDANT’S
CONVICTION AND SENTENCE PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. 8§ 225

Donald L. Blankenship, by and through counsel, eefplly moves this court to vacate
set aside, and correct his sentence and conviaaontrary to the laws and Constitution of the
United States pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255.

INTRODUCTION

1. Don Blankenship was charged by indictment onéviaver 13, 2014 with several
felony offenses and one misdemeanor offense retatad explosion at the Upper Big Branch
(“UBB”) mine owned by his company, Massey Energyne charges were vigorously contested
by Mr. Blankenship, and his attorneys served numgeformal and informal demands for
discovery on the prosecution team. This Courtredi¢he government to disclose Biady
information and to specify that information to thefense. On December 3, 2015, after trial and
after lengthy deliberations — punctuated by sewliah charges — the jury acquitted Mr.
Blankenship on all felony counts. The jury conetthowever, on the misdemeanor charge of

conspiracy to violate mine safety regulations.



2. After trial and sentencing, something extracaidyroccurred. Mr. Blankenship
and his counsel continued to assert his rightsoaliery of exculpatory and other information
required for his defense. After the two attorney® led the prosecution of Mr. Blankenship left
the United States Attorney’s Office, the governngggan to produce reports and other
information that were responsive to Mr. Blanken&hgiscovery requests that it had not
disclosed pre-trial. In a series of letters strgtg from January 31, 2017 to April 6, 2018, the
government provided to Mr. Blankenship sixty-oneyiously undisclosed memoranda of
interview (“MQOI”), forty-eight previously undiscl@sl emails, and nine other previously
undisclosed documents. The sheer quantity of withimnformation is staggering, and its quality
would have made it essential to Mr. Blankenshi@fedse. Included in this never-before-
disclosed information are five MO&achfor the government’s two main witnesses. The
materials also include internal Mine Safety andItbe@dministration (“MSHA”) emails that
directly contradict the government’s theory of mostion. In addition, the materials include
documents reflecting sanctions imposed on MSHAcE s for their performance of their
official duties — evidence which corroborates atk@mpart of Mr. Blankenship’s defense. This
mountain of undisclosed information includes exatdpy Brady material, impeachingiglio
material, and witness Jencks material, among dkhegs.

3. There is no lawful basis by which these matsmaluld have been withheld. The
Department of Justice, for its own part, has ref@these matters to its Office of Professional
Responsibility (“OPR”) for investigation. OPR hagst yet released its report and findings, but
Mr. Blankenship expects that the report will isguéhe near future. Mr. Blankenship anticipates
that the findings of the OPR report will add maemformation to the subject matter of this

Motion.



4. The full scope of the prosecution’s conduchis matter is still coming to light.
Mr. Blankenship has received new information frdma overnment as recently as April 8,
2018. And the findings of OPR will no doubt shedtfier light on this matter. Mr. Blankenship
brings this Motion to vindicate his constitutior@ald other rights. The prosecution if this case
deprived Mr. Blankenship of his constitutional rigt a fair trial, violated the Jencks Act,
violated this Court’s discovery orders, and madéenna misrepresentations to Mr.
Blankenship’s defense counsel and to the Coure ciimviction of Mr. Blankenship that
resulted from this terribly flawed process canrtahd. The jury that convicted Mr. Blankenship
deliberated for nine days and twice told the juthge it could not agree on a verdict. Ultimately,
it convicted Mr. Blankenship on only a single, n@steanor count. In short, this was an
extremely close call. The newly disclosed evidemgthheld by the prosecution until after trial,
would have tipped the balance in Mr. Blankenshigi©r. As a result, Mr. Blankenship’s
conviction and sentence was imposed in violatiothefConstitution and laws of the United
States. Therefore, this Court should vacate andssée that conviction and sentence

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

5. On November 13, 2014, a grand jury in the SentiDistrict of West Virginia
(S.D.W.Va.) indicted Mr. BlankenshigJnited States v. Donald L. Blankensh@rim. No. 5:14-
cr-00244 (ECF No. 1). As amended by the superseding indictment on M&@¢t2015,
prosecutors charged Mr. Blankenship with three t@i(t) conspiracy to both willfully violate
federal mine safety and health standards in vimhadif 18 U.S.C. 8371 and 30 U.S.C. § 820(d)
and to defraud the United States in violation ofUl8.C. § 371, (2) false statements to the

Securities and Exchange Commission in violatioa®fJ.S.C. §1001; and (3) false statements

L All ECF numbers cited herein refer to this docket.
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in connection with the sale or purchase of se@asitn violation of 18 U.S.C. §78ff. (ECF No.
169). Mr. Blankenship pled not guilty to all cosint

6. Mr. Blankenship was tried before a jury sittinghe S.D.W.V. He did not testify
at trial. On December 3, 2015, the jury convidiéd Blankenship on Count 1, but only as to the
conspiracy to violate Mine Safety regulations. FBd0. 529) The jury acquitted Mr.
Blankenship on Counts 2 and 3d.J. The district court entered a judgment of cohweiton
December 10, 2015. (ECF. No. 553)

7. On April 6, 2016, the district court sentenced Blankenship to twelve months
incarceration followed by one year of supervisddage, as well as a $250,000 fine and a $25
special assessment. (ECF No. 589). Prosecut@stetl to Mr. Blankenship remaining on
bond pending appeal.

8. Mr. Blankenship filed a timely appeal to thauRb Circuit. (ECF No. 591; Case
No. 16-4193). He argued that: (1) the indictmesutificiently alleged a violation of 30 U.S.C. §
820(d); (2) that the district court improperly detiire-cross examination of an alleged co-
conspirator, Chris Blanchard; (3) that the distciotrt incorrectly instructed the jury regarding
the meaning of “willfully” as used in 30 U.S.C. 88); and (4) the district court incorrectly
instructed the jury as to the government’s burdgoreof. The Fourth Circuit affirmed Mr.
Blankenship’s conviction on January 19, 20Uhited States v. Blankenshi46 F.3d 663 (4th
Cir. 2017).

9. Mr. Blankenship petitioned the United Statesr8oye Court for a writ of
certiorari. (ECF No. 655; Case No. 16-1413). kieed the following two issues in his petition:

that the district court (1) incorrectly instructéet jury regarding the meaning of willfully, and



(2) improperly denied re-cross examination of Miarighard. The Supreme Court denied
certiorari on October 10, 2017. 138 S.Ct. 315 201

10. Mr. Blankenship has filed no other motiongjtfmas, or applications concerning

the judgment of conviction in any court.
JURISDICTION

11. This Court has jurisdiction over this motiaitimposed Mr. Blankenship’s
sentence. 28 U.S.C. § 2255(a).

12. Mr. Blankenship is presently in custody withiie meaning of Section 2255 as he
is serving a term of supervised release underupersision of Probation and Pretrial Services
for the District of NevadaSee United States v. SwaB$5 F.3d 233, 238-39 (4th Cir. 2013ge
also Maleng v. Coqkd90 U.S. 488, 491-92 (1989). His term of supadirelease ends on May
9, 2018

13. This motion is timely because it has beeml fé&thin one year of the date on
which the judgment of conviction became final. 128&.C. §2255(f)(1)Clay v. United States
537 U.S. 522, 527 (2003) (judgment of convictiondraes final when the U.S. Supreme Court
denies petition for writ of certiorari).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

14. Zuckerman Spaeder (“Zuckerman”) representedBlankenship in the pre-trial,

trial, and appellate proceedings. Throughout tloegedings, the Zuckerman defense team

raised concerns to the prosecution and the Coortdabe adequacy of the prosecution’s

2 A motion under Section 2255 does not become mbenvihe custodial sentence terminates if
the movant continues to suffer collateral consegeghat flow from the convictiorCarafas v.
LaValleg 391 U.S. 234, 237-38 (196@waby 855 F.3d at 239 n. 2. The Fourth Circuit has
held that payment of a fine or restitution uponwotion — as done by Mr. Blankenship here —
gualifies as a collateral consequence sufficiekietep a Section 2255 motion from becoming
moot. Nakell v. Att'y Gen. of North Carolind5 F.3d 319, 322 (4th Cir. 1994).
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disclosure oBradymaterial. In addition to informal requests, théetdse filed multiple motions
seeking exculpatory and impeachment matérithe government consistently replied that it had
provided the defense with all documents require@iagdy, Giglio, and Jencks, as well as the
Court’s orders regarding discovety.

15.  The government provided its initial discovery@ecember 4, 2015 and January
29, 2015. On April 15, 2015, the defense emailedigtant U.S. Attorney Steve Ruby and asked
him to confirm “that all of the memoranda of intexws that the government conducted as part
of its investigation, as well as the documents ukethg those interviews . . . have been
provided to the defense.” The defense also regdestomplete list of all interviews conducted.
AUSA Ruby responded on April 21, 2015 with a listraerviews.

16. On June 12, 2015, in response to a defensemaiiis Court ordered the

government to “specifically designate any knowndranaterial as such and disclose the same

3 Zuckerman also sent a number of communicatioresthjrto the USAO seeking the same
material. Motions filed with the court that sougitculpatory material include: Motion to
Enforce The GovernmentBradyObligations (Feb. 6, 2015) (ECF No. 111); MotiorCompel
the Government to Identify in its ProductiBrady and Rule 16(a)(1) Material (Apr. 28, 2015)
(ECF No. 245); Motion to Compel Production of Wisdnterview Notes and Records of
Attorney Proffers ContaininBrady Information (May 6, 2015) (ECF No. 248); Motion to
Compel Compliance witBradyOrder and for Other Appropriate Relief (July 8, 3D(ECF No.
283); and Motion to Compel Compliance with SubpodéoaProduction oBrady, Rule 16, and
Jencks Material, and for Evidentiary Hearing (N6y2015) (ECF No. 481).

* See, e.glnited States’ Response to Defendant’s Motion Ng.Motion to Enforce the
Government'8Brady Obligations at 2 (Feb. 20, 2015) (ECF No. 133)df&hdant’s belief
notwithstanding, all discoverable evidence, inahgdall Brady material known to the United
States, has been provided to Defendant.”); UnitateS Response to Defendant’s Motion to
Compel Production of Witness Interview Notes anddr@s of Attorney Proffers Containing
BradyInformation at 1-2 (May 14, 2015) (ECF No. 251 g(oling that the government was
“aware of its ongoin@radyobligations” and “is in compliance with its discoyebligations”);
United States’ Combined Motion for Production ofthheocal Discovery and Response to
Defendant’s Motion to Compel Compliance whrady Order at 8 (July 14, 2015) (ECF No.
284) (“[S]ince the United States has complied wh@Brady Order with respect to the substance
of those interviews, there is no reason to retsit ruling.”)



to defense counsel.” Mem. Op. & Order at 11 (JL&e2015) (ECF No. 279). The prosecutors’
response flatly denied that any exculpatory evidesdsted in the entire investigation:

As an initial matter, the United States notes #ilhthe evidence of which it is
aware tends to support the conclusions that Defeh@ad others at Massey
Energy Company made a business decision to regutammit illegal mine-
safety violations at the Upper Big Branch mi(#®BB”) and then caused
statements and omissions to be made that conctradedecision after the 2010
UBB explosion. In other wordshe United States does not know of any evidence
that truly tends to exculpate Defendardefendant may propose that evidence is
exculpatory if it shows that there were occasiofenvhe or others at Massey
complied with mine safety laws rather than violgtthem. That view would be
mistaken . . . Similarly, Defendant may propose thadence that he or others at
Massey expressed general concern for safety temdshdw that he did not
conspire to violate mine safety laws. That clairg,twould be erroneous.
(Emphases added)

Nonetheless, prosecutors proceeded to identifpiof the more than 300 MOls that had
actually been disclosed to the defense that “Defenhohight claim tend to be exculpatory in
some way, even if such a claim would lack metit.”

17.  After receiving the government’s response, Blankenship sought further relief
from this Court, citing a litany of deficienciestime government’s representations. Motion to
Compel Compliance witBrady Order (July 8, 2015) (ECF No. 283) (ECF No. 288ar
example, in some instances, rather than turning @eemplete MOI, the government provided
cursory statements that purported to summarizengiatly exculpatory information provided by
a witness.Id. at 3. In its opposition to the Motion to Compkk government assured the Court
that “the United States has complied with BradyOrder.” United States’ Combined Motion
for Production of Reciprocal Discovery and Respdndeefendant’s Motion to Compel

Compliance witiBradyOrder (July 14, 2015) (ECF No. 284). In light bétgovernment’s

® This response is contained in Exhibit A of Mr. Btanship’s Motion to Compel Compliance
with Brady Order (July 8, 2015) (ECF No. 283, Att. No. 1).
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representations, the Court denied further relém. Op. & Order (Aug. 10, 2015) (ECF No.
295).

18. Given his concerns about the prosecution’s diamge with its discovery
obligations, Mr. Blankenship also sought evideniceadly from MSHA. On September 9, 2015
this Court issued an order granting Mr. Blanken'shipquest for a Rule 17(c) subpoehaes
tecumto be served on MSHA. (ECF No. 358). The subpawmsissued that same day and
sought three categories of documents includingt d4dtuments regarding the UBB mine during
the Indictment Period located in the files of th&NA inspectors and officials who were present
in the mine during the Indictment Period and tisepervisors.” (ECF No. 359).

19. On September 17, 2015, Mr. Blankenship filedation to compel compliance
with the Rule 17(c) subpoena, arguing that MSHA'sponse could not possibly have been
complete. Motion to Compel MSHA to Comply with $aena Duces Tecum (Sept. 17, 2015)
(ECF No. 377). Prosecutors defended MSHA's respansl urged the Court to deny Mr.
Blankenship’s motion. Response to Motion to Conig8HA to Comply with Subpoena Duces
Tecum (Sept. 24, 2015) (ECF No. 388). Mr. Blankgmsenewed the motion on November 6,
2015. Motion to Compel Compliance with SubpoenaHroduction oBrady, Rule 16, and
Jencks Material, and for Evidentiary Hearing (N6éy2015) (ECF No. 481). Once again, the
prosecutors insisted that MSHA had complied withghbpoena. United States’ Response to
Motion to Compel (Nov. 15, 2015) (ECF No. 496).isT@ourt ultimately denied Mr.
Blankenship’s motion. Mem. Op. & Order (Dec. 913D(ECF No. 549).

20. During trial, prosecutors continued to assgetgovernment’s compliance during
argument before the court. For example, duringssexamination, Chris Blanchard testified

about a number of exculpatory topics that he clditoehave previously told the government.



Defense counsel asked to see the MOIs from thasesiaws: “This witness was interviewed a
number of times by the Government and, accordirtheavitness, told them that he did not, did
not believe that he was guilty of a crime, thatian’t believe that he participated in a
conspiracy with Mr. Blankenship, and a number tieotmore specific exculpatory statements.
We were never provided with any of that, notwithsliag our aggressive [and] persistent
efforts.” (Trial Tr. Vol. XVII at 3710:23-3711:5)AUSA Ruby told the court point blank that
“We have [] turned over 302s from our interviewshathis witness . . . to the extent that there is
exculpatory information that we had from this wiegthat's been turned over to the defense.”
(Id. at 3712:9-18). As of that time, the governmert tuaned over a single 302 (also referred to
as a MOI) for Mr. Blanchard.

21. On January 19, 2017, OPR notified the actir§, Wttorney that MOls
conducted during the investigation into Mr. Blang&leip had not been disclosed to the defense.
In response, the U.S. Attorney’s Office (“USAO”)dam a review of the file and, over the course
of the following weeks, provided Mr. Blankenshipthvsixty-one memoranda of interview that
had not been disclosed previously. In October 261 USAO provided details regarding an
undisclosed attorney proffer by Chris Adkins, MtaBchard’s immediate supervisor. Then, in
November 2017, the USAO turned over several dopsails from MSHA. Most recently, on
April 6, 2018, the USAO learned of still more urddesed MSHA documents which it then
promptly turned over to Mr. Blankenship. All thasedisclosed materials, along with the letters
of transmittal, are being submitted with this Matio

GROUNDS FOR RELIEF

® Carol Casto — who was not a member of the promecteam in Mr. Blankenship’s case —
became the acting U.S. Attorney in January 2016saneed in that role until the appointment of
the current U.S. Attorney in January 2018.



22. Mr. Blankenship hereby incorporates by refeegparagraphs 1 through 21 of this
motion.

23. Prosecutors’ conduct deprived Mr. Blankengtipis constitutional right to a fair
trial. Each of the following grounds is individbasufficient to warrant the requested relief.

1. Suppression of Material Exculpatory and/or Impeachng Evidence in Violation
of Brady v. Marylandand Giglio v. United States.

24. Despite their repeated assertions to the corosecutors failed to turn over
material, exculpatory and/or impeachment evidenogdlation of their obligations und@&rady
v. Maryland,373 U.S. 83 (1963ndGiglio v. United States405 U.S. 150 (1972). The
prosecutors’ failure to comply with thédradyand Giglio obligations violated Mr.
Blankenship’s constitutional right to a fair treahd warrants vacating his conviction and
sentence.

A. Memoranda of Interview

25.  The sixty-one MOI provided to Mr. Blankenshigsptrial contain mountains of
exculpatory material. Among them were five MOI &chof the government’s two main
witnesses at trial. They failed to disclose twetthiee pages of reports from five separate
interviews with alleged co-conspirator Chris Blaah Similarly, five interviews comprising
twenty-eight pages of reports for Bill Ross — arfer MSHA inspector hired by Mr.
Blankenship specifically to address safety concerakso went undisclosed.

26.  These sixty-one MOI contain numerous exampiexculpatory and impeaching
evidence. The full list dBrady/Gigliomaterial in the undisclosed MOI is enormous anthoa
be detailed in full within the confines of this M. A few key examples, however, are
highlighted below.

27.  The undisclosed MOIs from Mr. Blanchard inclukle following information:
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28.

o Mr. Blanchard told investigators: “Blanchard addgsbkat he never knowingly

gave a direct order where he told someone to dedong that caused a law to be
broken.” (MOI-001457).

The government argued at trial that Massey’s faitorincrease staffing levels at
UBB proved Mr. Blankenship’s intent to violate mis&fety regulationsSee,
e.g., Trial Tr. Vol. XXVIII at 5842:24-5843:24. But as reflected in the
undisclosed materials, Mr. Blanchard told invediages that there was “no
amount of money or resources that could take daa# wiolations at a mine.”
(MOI-001547).

One of the most critical pieces of evidence forghesecution was Mr.
Blankenship’s receipt of reports that showed th&tions issued to UBB.Sge,
e.g., Trial Tr. Vol. XXVIII at 5839:9-11, 5953:12-19)But in fact, Mr. Blanchard
told the prosecutors that “Blankenship . . . fetlations were going to be written
by MSHA. Blankenship felt MSHA made things upM@I-001402).

A review of the five undisclosed MOIs for Mrogs likewise includes obvious

exculpatory and impeaching statements:

29.

o Like Mr. Blanchard, Bill Ross provided evidencetth@any of the citations at

UBB were outside Massey’s control. Mr. Ross toldestigators in an
undisclosed MOI that “the UBB mine was set up ibbdased on the ventilation
system MSHA forced the UBB mine to use.” (MOI-082% This was a critical
part of Mr. Blankenship’s defense — that UBB reedi¢itations, at least in part,
because MSHA required them to use an ineffectivilaion system that caused
violations.

Ross also told the government of several statenBdatdkenship made about
reducingviolations. (MOI-001487; MOI-001476; MOI-001488).

What is more, one of the alleged co-conspiratohsisCAdkins (Mr. Blanchard’s
immediate supervisor), told Ross that “they shaaohply with all regulations at
the mine site.” (MOI-001477)

In addition, the government never turned ov&@lsffor many other withesses

that included exculpatory information that would/édenefited Mr. Blankenship’s defense. For

example, the government never turned over a MOMark Clemens, who oversaw Massey’s

production, sales and budgeting. Among other gataly information in his MOI, Mr.

Clemens directly refuted one theory of prosecutibien he told the government that “there was

11



pressure at Massey to run coal, but not enouglspreso overlook safety.” (MOI-001506). In

addition, the information contained in undisclo$40ls for Sabrina Duba, Charlie Bearse,

Stephanie Ojeda, Steve Sears, Lisa Williams, angt Gampton all contained additional

exculpatory and impeachment information that wddge benefited Mr. Blankenship at trial.
B. MSHA Documents

30. In November 2017 and April 2018, the USAO taroger dozens of exculpatory
and impeaching documents and emails from the Mafet$ and Health Administration
(“MSHA"). We cannot identify every such instancerd, but provide the following as
particularly egregious examples.

31. Several of the MSHA emails support Mr. Blankep's defense theory that many
citations did not reflect actual violations. Faaeple, one email from a MSHA attorney
discusses several citations issued to UBB. Indmail, the attorney observes that one citation
could not be sustained and must be vacated. Sbegaints out that more information would be
needed from inspectors to sustain two other citatigUSAO0000114). In another email, a
MSHA employee points out a “potential violation”dBB. He receives the following response:
“Sounds like a violation is in order. Let Normamokv about it and | am sure he will be more
than happy to give them one more piece of papgySAO0000028).

32. Other emails demonstrate MSHA’s contempt for Blankenship and Massey
Energy. In response to a draft press releasediegacomplaints about Massey mines, MSHA
Mine Administrator Kevin Stricklin replied: “My dyp comment is to put a dagger into massey
[sic].” He was overruled by the head of MSHA, Ja&in, who responded that “This is about

presenting the facts to the public in a responsiag.” (USAO0000033). But Mr. Stricklin’s
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remark is tame in comparison with what another MStidployee wrote: “I hope that him
[Blankenship] and Glenn Beck get raped by a rhine&e Horn end.” (USAO0000109).

33. Even more astoundingly, the issue of advantieae the illegal practice of
warning miners that inspectors had arrived — cameegularly at trial. It was a major focus of
the government’s case that Mr. Blankenship defrdude United States, but was also used to
demonstrate his participation in a conspiracy tdate the mine safety regulations. In fact,
however, the undisclosed internal MSHA emails rétleat MSHA officials themselves were
conflicted as to whether Massey’s practices actuadilated regulations regarding advance
notice. In one especially pointed email, a MSH®eistigator explained: “The fact is most
[inspectors] did not really think that what wasmgpon was advance notice. The lack of citations
says a lot.” (USAO0000030).

34. Finally, the documents provided on April 6, 8&how that multiple MSHA
supervisors were disciplined by the agency for @uaehte supervision over UBB. In particular,
these documents criticize MSHA officials for fadino consider the interaction between the
mine’s dust and ventilation plans when they appdabhem. This evidence supports another of
Mr. Blankenship’s key defenses at trial — that MSH8uired Massey to use a ventilation plan
that inherently created violations. These documalsgo reveal the disparity between the
government’s treatment of Mr. Blankenship (crimipedsecution) and that of the MSHA
officials responsible for the UBB mine’s safetys{fap on the wrist).

2. Suppression of Evidence in Violation of the Jenck&ct and Rule 26.2 of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

35. Many of the MOls include statements by withesgsko testified at trial and
should therefore have been turned over to the deféeelencks Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3500; Fed.

R. Crim. P. 26.2(a). The sanctions for Jencksatiohs at trial include striking the witnesses’
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testimony and/or declaring a mistrial. Fed. RnCrP. 26.2(e). Because the excluded testimony
was critical to the government case, Mr. Blankegpishtonviction and sentence must be vacated.

36. Roughly two-thirds of the undisclosed memosanarthored by FBI Special
Agent James Lafferty, who testified at trial onuatber of subjects, including subjects related to
those covered in the MOls. These MOIs are une@ailyp Jencks material that should have
been producedSee United States v. Hintof,9 F.2d 711, 714 n.2, 716, 722 (4th Cir. 1983)
(formal MOls are considered a government agenditestent for Jencks Act purposes but
informal notes are not). Notably, Special Ageatferty authored all of the undisclosed Ross
MOlIs and all but one of the Blanchard MOls.

37. Moreover, one of the undisclosed MOIs inclualegagram drawn by Mr. Ross to
explain how continuous miners operated in connactith certain ventilation systems. Mr.
Ross testified extensively on the subject mattesrestilation and mining operationsSee, e.g.,
Trial Tr. Vol. XIX at 3904:18-3905:25).

38. If the testimony of Mr. Ross, Mr. Blanchaatid Special Agent Lafferty had
been stricken, there clearly would have been ingafft evidence to convict. In fact, striking the
testimony of any one of them would have seriousigarmined the government’s case. This fact
alone warrants vacating Mr. Blankenship’s convittamd sentence.

3. Violation of District Court Orders Regarding discovery.

39. By failing to disclose these MOIs and MSHA doants, the government

violated two orders issued by the Court regardilsgalery. These violations deprived Mr.

Blankenship of his constitutional right to a faiat.
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A. District Court’s Brady Order

40.  As described in paragraph 15, this Court odldre government to “specifically
designate any known Brady material as such andbdest¢he same to defense counsel.” The
prosecution’s response denied that any exculp&adence existed in the entire investigation.
None of the sixty-one interviews were included loat list, despite the fact that a number had
already occurred by that time. And, of course, ¢hiagerviews conducted later on were never
disclosed at all.

41. Moreover, prosecutors repeatedly told the Canutthe defense that they had
complied with the Court’s order. For instance, Blanchard testified on cross-examination that
he had made several exculpatory statements durgsgimgs with prosecutors. Having received
only a single MOI from an interview with Mr. Blanafd, the defense requested the MOI from
those other interviews. In response, AUSA Rubered that “We have [] turned over 302s
from our interviews with this witness . . . to thetent that there is exculpatory information that
we had from this witness, that’'s been turned ovehé defense.” (Trial Tr. Vol. XVII at
3712:9-18). But, in fact, the government had nodéd over 302s — plural — as AUSA Ruby
claimed. It had turned over only a single 302 had withheldive others with Mr. Blanchard —
totaling twenty-three pages of notes. Includedne of those undisclosed MOIs was a statement
corroborating that Mr. Blanchard told the governtt@anhad committed no crime: “Blanchard
advised that he never knowingly gave a direct ovdegre he told someone to do something that
caused a law to be broken.” (MOI-001457).

B. Rule 17(c) Subpoena
42. On September 9, 2015, pursuant to this Coartler granting Mr. Blankenship’s

request for a Rule 17(c) subpoehaes tecuno be served on MSHA (ECF No. 358), the
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subpoena was issued requesting: “All documentsdagathe UBB mine during the Indictment
Period located in the files of the MSHA inspectansl officials who were present in the mine
during the Indictment Period and their superviSqiSCF No. 359).

43. Mr. Blankenship — correctly as we now know Hdwed that MSHA'’s responses
were inadequate. When he sought the Court’s assistin compelling better responses,
prosecutors vigorously opposed those eff@ee suprgara. 19.

44. However, documents turned over to Mr. BlankgmshNovember 2017 include
emails that were responsive to the Rule 17(c) seibp@nd should have been produced pursuant
to it.

45, What is more, the defense discovered eviddrateMSHA haddestroyed
documents in the aftermath of the UBB explosidmraised this issue with the court and
requested an evidentiary hearing. (ECF No. 4&1ppposition to Mr. Blankenship’s motion,
prosecutors told this Court: “MSHA has compliedhwite subpoena, and the United States has
complied and continues to comply with its discovebjigations.” (ECF No. 496). As a result,
the court did not find Mr. Blankenship’s evidendenon-compliance to be sufficient: “Absent
additional testimony or evidence regarding allededument destruction by MSHA or any
MSHA employee, and any additional link between sacis and this case, the Court sees no
legal basis or justification for granting the Dedant’s Motion.” (ECF No. 549).

46. The undisclosed MSHA letters provide that adddl evidence. In December
2011, a MSHA employee William Francart sent an ¢éasking: “How many miners worked
their entire career at UBB? We had a shredding/aate in Beckley and the charts you printed
for everyone were modified so that they can’t ladreé (USAO0000032). This email reinforces

the conclusion that MSHA intentionally destroyesirigcords related to UBB.
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C. Fraud on the Court

47. In addition to its failure to turn ovBradymaterial, prosecutors misrepresented
the government’s compliance with Bsady obligations and the courtBrady order in both
court filings and oral arguments.

48. For example, in its opposition to Mr. Blankeip&hpre-trial motion to Compel
Compliance with the Court’'s Brady Order, prosecsitotd the Court that “the United States has
complied with theBrady Order.” (ECF No. 284). Likewise, in its opposititma similar motion
during trial, prosecutors told this Court: “MSHAsheomplied with the subpoena, and the United
States has complied and continues to comply wstdigcovery obligations.” Response to
Defendant’s Motion to Compel (Nov. 15, 2015) (EC#&. M96). Neither of these statements was
true.

49, AUSA Ruby misrepresented the government’s c@npé during argument
before the court. As described earlier, after €Btanchard testified about a number of
exculpatory topics that he told the government, Mrylor asked to see the MOls from those
interviews. AUSA Ruby told the Court that “We hgy¢éurned over 302s from our interviews
with this witness . . . to the extent that therexsulpatory information that we had from this
witness, that’s been turned over to the defeng€rial Tr. Vol. XVII at 3712). This was simply
not true.

4. Prosecutorial Misconduct

50. In order to establish a claim und#ady; it is not necessary to show that the
prosecutors intentionally suppressed evider®ee Brady373 U.S. at 87 (the “good faith or bad
faith of the prosecution” is irrelevant if the supgpsed evidence “is material either to guilt or to

punishment”). Nonetheless, the quantity and gualithe suppressed exculpatory and other
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information here leads to the unfortunate conclusiat the misconduct was intentional. The
prosecutorial misconduct was of such magnitude aehy Mr. Blankenship due process and a
fair trial, and it therefore violated his Fifth Amément rights and warrants vacating his
conviction and sentence.

51. Defense counsel frequently raised the issuwodlisclosure with both
prosecutors and the court, asking for specific doents or statements. On behalf of the
prosecution team, AUSA Ruby repeatedly counteratttiey had complied with their
obligations even though they so obviously had #di.SA Ruby in particularmust have known
that these representations were not true. He aebpally participated in the vast majority of
the undisclosed interviews including all five Bl&iacd interviews, along with three of those
involving Bill Ross.

52. Moreover, prosecutors denied that any excutpawadence even existed. In
response to the CourtBradyOrder, AUSA Ruby denied that any exculpatory evateexisted
in the entire investigation. Yet, it is clear frdns response that AUSA Ruby understood the
precise nature of the information that Mr. Blank@psonsidered exculpatory. Instead of
providing that information, he simply argued tha¢ evidencelid notactually exculpate Mr.
Blankenship.

53. The Blanchard incident is the most telling tigpf the willfulness of the
misconduct. After defense counsel requested riiegsMr. Blanchard’s MOIs, stunningly,
AUSA Ruby did not offer to review the file or adketCourt for time to confirm. Instead, he
boldly told the Court that all exculpatory infornaat from the witness had been turned over.
(SeeTrial Tr. Vol. XVII at 3712:9-18). And yet, twenithree pages of notes from five

interviewsthat AUSA Ruby personally attendead never been disclosed.
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54. Despite the efforts of the new U.S. Attorneyamedy these discovery violations,
Mr. Blankenship has reason to believe that addilierculpatory material remains undisclosed.
Specifically, handwritten notes of interviews byastigating agents have never been disclosed.
In a pre-trial motion, defense counsel requestedhéndwritten notes of interviews. The Court
ordered that the substance of those notes be pddaagequirement the government claimed
had been satisfied by the typewritten memos. Nwiess, it is probable that withesses made
exculpatory statements to the government that @etreeflected in the typed MOIs that were
produced. Based on the pattern of violations here, it selétaly that material evidence may be
contained in the handwritten notes that is noertéd in the typed MOls.

55.  Additionally, before trial, the defense reqeedstertain information regarding
communications between the government and immumizesses. Specifically, they requested
information on whether immunized “witnesses or ttltelunsel profess innocence or otherwise
make factual representations or proffers inconsistath their or Mr. Blankenship’s guilt.” No
response to that request has ever been provided.

56. Finally, even with the most recent batch of MSéinails provided by the
government, there is no indication that the routlag-to-day communications among MSHA
inspectors have ever been produced, despite defenssel’s repeated requests.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Donald L. Blankenship moves this Conirtdcate and set aside his

sentence and judgment of conviction as having Imeposed in violation of the Constitution and

the laws of the United States, and for such otblegfras is necessary and appropriate. Mr.

’ For example, Mr. Blanchard testified that he (srdttorney) informed the government that he
had not engaged in a conspiracy with Mr. Blankemsl(irial Tr. Vol. XVI at 3309:17-3310:4).
No such statement appears in any of the disclosetsM

19



Blankenship also moves the Court to hold an evidenhearing to consider the full facts, and to
determine whether additional information existd #teould have been provided to Mr.

Blankenship pre-trial.
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/s/ Howard C. Vick
Howard C. Vick
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